THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Supreme Court

---

APPEAL FROM BAMBERG COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Clifton Newman, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2015-001183

---

Opinion No. 5541 (S.C. Ct. App. filed Mar. 7, 2018)

---

Camille Hodge, Jr., as Personal Representative of the Estate  
of Mable Hodge, Deceased ..... Respondent,

v.

UniHealth Post-Acute Care of Bamberg, LLC f/k/a Bamberg County  
Nursing Center; United Health Services of South Carolina, Inc.;  
United Health Services, Inc.; UHS-Pruitt Holdings, Inc. a/k/a  
UHS-Pruitt Corp.; R. Dale Padgett, MD, PA; and Dr. Herbert A. Moskow,

of Whom UniHealth Post-Acute Care of Bamberg, LLC f/k/a Bamberg County

### **QUESTIONS PRESENTED**

- I. Did the court of appeals err in failing to identify and apply the proper standard for reviewing the circuit court’s ruling on the motion to compel arbitration?
- II. Did the court of appeals err in affirming as to the agency issue because the circuit court abused its discretion by refusing to allow the petitioners to present evidence on this fact-intensive question and its ruling was based upon an error of law?
- III. Did the court of appeals err in departing from U.S. Supreme Court precedent by treating nursing home arbitration agreements differently than other contracts?

### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

This appeal arises out of two medical malpractice actions filed by respondents Camille Hodge, Jr., as personal representative of the estate of Mable Hodge, and Camille Hodge, Sr. (collectively “respondents”) against petitioners as well as R. Dale Padgett, MD, PA and Dr. Herbert A. Moskow. (App’x pp. 71, 81). The decedent, Mable Hodge, entered UniHealth Post-Acute Care of Bamberg (the Facility) on August 31, 2010. (App’x p. 76). Prior to her admission, the decedent’s husband, Camille Hodge, Sr., executed various documents on her behalf, including

admissions paperwork containing an arbitration agreement (the Arbitration Agreement). (App'x p. 167–213). Indeed, this arrangement was not unusual because Mr. Hodge had executed numerous medical documents on behalf of the decedent on other occasions as well. (App'x pp. 262, 265–80 & 371). The decedent stayed at the Facility for over three weeks without objecting to her admission or any documents executed on her behalf when she was admitted.

According to respondents, around September 20, 2010, the decedent complained to staff at the Facility that her back was hurting, and she was unable to stand or move her legs. This condition allegedly worsened over the next four days. By the morning of September 24, 2010, the decedent could not feel her legs or arms, nor was she able to stand. The decedent was then transported to Richland Memorial Hospital with paralysis from the waist down. (App'x pp. 77–78). Respondents allege that petitioners' failure to evaluate, test, diagnose, and treat the decedent's conditions caused her paralysis and other complications. (App'x p. 78). After filing a notice of intent, respondents filed their respective summonses and complaints. (App'x pp. 17, 71 & 81). Petitioners then filed answers to both actions with contemporaneous motions to compel arbitration. (App'x pp. 91, 98, 104, 110, 141, 116, 123, 129, 135 & 146).

Thereafter, petitioners requested that respondents make Camille Hodge, Sr. available for a deposition regarding topics solely related to the arbitration issue. Respondents objected to this request, and petitioners filed a motion to compel his deposition. (App'x p. 215). The parties appeared for a hearing on all outstanding motions before the Honorable Clifton Newman. Following a hearing, the circuit court entered orders denying petitioners' motion to compel Mr. Hodge's deposition and denying their motion to compel arbitration. (App'x pp. 1, 13). Petitioners filed a timely motion to alter or amend the order denying their motions, and the circuit court issued an order denying their Rule 59(e), SCRCP, motion. (App'x pp. 282, 304 & 15).

Subsequently, petitioners filed a notice of appeal. (App'x pp. 326, 346). After the matter was fully briefed, the case was called for oral argument in the court of appeals on May 2, 2017. (App'x pp. 448, 478 & 505). The court of appeals issued a published opinion on March 7, 2018, affirming the circuit court's orders. See Hodge, Op. No. 5541 (Shearouse Adv. Sh. No. 10 at 55–87). Petitioners filed a timely petition for rehearing, which the court of appeals denied in an order dated May 2, 2018. (App'x pp. 552, 571). This petition for a writ of certiorari followed.

### ARGUMENT

This Court should grant certiorari to review the court of appeals' decision, and reverse and remand. The court of appeals erred affirming the circuit court's orders denying petitioners' motion to compel arbitration and their motion to compel the deposition of Camille Hodge, Sr. because the court of appeals (1) did not identify or apply the proper standard of review, (2) erred in concluding the circuit court did not abuse its discretion when the circuit court refused to allow petitioners to present evidence to rebut a fact-intensive defense asserted by respondents, and (3) departed from U.S. Supreme Court precedent by treating nursing home arbitration agreements differently than other contracts.

#### **I. The court of appeals failed to identify and apply the proper standard of review.**

In reviewing the circuit court's order denying petitioners' motion to compel arbitration, the court of appeals failed to identify and apply the proper standard of review.

Noticeably absent from the court of appeals' opinion was the familiar proposition that “[i]t is the policy of this state and federal law to favor arbitration[,] and ‘any doubts concerning the scope of arbitrable issues should be resolved in favor of arbitration.’” Landers v. Fed. Deposit Ins. Co., 402 S.C. 100, 109, 739 S.E.2d 209, 213 (2013) (quoting Am. Recovery Corp. v. Computerized Thermal Imaging, Inc., 96 F.3d 88, 92 (4th Cir. 1996)). Likewise, the court of appeals failed to

recognize that “the party resisting arbitration bears the burden of proving that the claims at issue are unsuitable for arbitration.” Hall v. Green Tree Servicing, LLC, 413 S.C. 267, 271, 776 S.E.2d 91, 94 (Ct. App. 2015) (quoting Dean v. Heritage Healthcare of Ridgeway, LLC, 408 S.C. 371, 379, 759 S.E.2d 727, 731 (2014)).

The court of appeals did not identify or apply the correct standard of review in this case, and this error controlled its analysis of the issues. No doubts were resolved in favor of arbitration, as is required, and respondents put forth no evidence—aside from arguments of counsel—to demonstrate the claims were not suitable for arbitration. See Shinn v. Kreul, 311 S.C. 94, 102, 427 S.E.2d 695, 700 (Ct. App. 1993) (“A court cannot consider facts appearing only in argument of counsel.”); 15 S.C. JUR. Appeal and Error § 79 at n.1 (2018) (“The argument of counsel is not evidence and, standing alone, provides no support for a finding of fact.”). Indeed, the court of appeals ignored the appropriate lens through which a motion to compel arbitration must be considered and shifted the burden to the nursing home facility to prove the Arbitration Agreement was enforceable based upon respondents’ bare assertions that Camille Hodge, Sr. was not the decedent’s agent and the decedent allegedly received no benefit from the Arbitration Agreement. Further, the court of appeals placed the burden on petitioners to demonstrate why a patient, or the patient’s representative, benefited from the agreement and intended to waive their right to a jury trial.

Although respondents contended “there is no question [the decedent] received no ‘benefit’ from the Arbitration Agreement” in their brief, (App’x pp. 494–95), they cited nothing in support of this conclusory assertion. If no question existed, then the parties would not be arguing these issues on appeal. To the contrary, respondents did benefit from the Arbitration Agreement for the same reasons any other party would benefit from arbitrating disputes. As our appellate courts have

long recognized, “[t]he fundamental premise upon which” the state policy favoring arbitration “is grounded is the laudable goal of providing a relatively quick and inexpensive resolution of contractual disputes by avoiding the expense and delay of extended court proceedings.” Batten v. Howell, 300 S.C. 545, 547, 389 S.E.2d 170, 171 (Ct. App. 1990) (quoting Trident Tech. Coll. v. Lucas & Stubbs, Ltd., 286 S.C. 98, 104, 333 S.E.2d 781, 785 (1985)).

In any event, the court of appeals appeared to accept as fact that Mable received no benefit from the Arbitration Agreement and extrapolated on that notion to find Mable did not even benefit from being admitted into the facility. According to the court of appeals, “[t]he only agreement from which Respondents even arguably received a benefit was the Admission Agreement because Mable was admitted to the Facility as a result of it. However, because the Facility allegedly caused Mable’s injuries that later led to her death, we find it difficult to find she benefited even from being admitted.” Hodge, Op. No. 5541 (Shearouse Adv. Sh. No. 10 at 70–71). The petitioners take exception to the court of appeals questioning whether a patient “benefited even from being admitted” to their facility. But the court of appeals’ sua sponte findings as to the care provided and medical causation are even more problematic because these were not argued and are not supported by any facts in the record on appeal. See Rule 210(h), SCACR (stating “the appellate court will not consider any fact which does not appear in the Record on Appeal”); Rule 208(b)(1)(B), SCACR (“Ordinarily, no point will be considered which is not set forth in the statement of the issues on appeal.”).

In making this improper comment, the court of appeals exceeded the scope of review permitted in deciding motions to compel arbitration by veering off course into the merits of the underlying medical malpractice action. See, e.g., Aiken v. World Fin. Corp. of S.C., 373 S.C. 144, 148, 644 S.E.2d 705, 708 (2007) (noting that “factual findings” on motions to compel arbitration

are reviewed under the “any evidence” standard). The merits of the underlying lawsuit are not relevant to the issues on appeal and were not before the court of appeals—the only legal questions before the court pertained to the enforceability of an arbitration agreement and what evidence may be used to demonstrate the arbitrability of respondents’ claims. Because the court of appeals’ findings could prejudice petitioners’ defense once the appellate process runs its course and the underlying medical malpractice action is either tried or arbitrated, the Court should reverse and remand.

The court of appeals improperly applied the standard of review, and this error controlled its analysis throughout the opinion. Therefore, the Court should grant certiorari to review the court of appeals’ decision, and reverse and remand for a reconsideration of the issues in the motion to compel arbitration applying the proper standard of review.

**II. The court of appeals erred in affirming as to the agency issue because the circuit court abused its discretion by refusing to allow the petitioners to present evidence on this fact-intensive question and its ruling was based upon an error of law.**

Next, the court of appeals erred in affirming as to the agency issue because the circuit court abused its discretion by refusing to allow the petitioners to present evidence on this fact-intensive question and its ruling was based upon an error of law.

At the outset, the question of whether the circuit court erred in denying the motion to compel the deposition of Camille Hodge, Sr. is properly before the Court because that motion has a sufficient nexus to the denial of petitioners’ motion to compel arbitration. See, e.g., Brown v. Cty. of Berkeley, 366 S.C. 354, 362 n.5, 622 S.E.2d 533, 538 n.5 (2005) (stating that “[c]ourts have made a practice of accepting appeals of denials of interlocutory orders not ordinarily immediately appealable when those appeals are companion to issues that are reviewable” and the issues must have “a sufficient nexus or companionship to justify this Court’s exercise of immediate

appellate review”). Indeed, the issues have an inextricable link because petitioners’ purported lack of evidence—which, incidentally, neither the circuit court nor the court of appeals would allow petitioners to procure via deposition—controlled both courts’ analysis of the agency issue and led to the denial of the motion to compel arbitration. Because the two issues are so intertwined, the Court should review these motions together. See Brown, 366 S.C. at 362 n.5, 622 S.E.2d at 538 n.5.

Turning to the merits, the court of appeals erred in finding no abuse of discretion in the circuit court’s denial of petitioners’ motion to compel the deposition of Camille Hodge, Sr. because (1) the requested deposition was well within the scope of discovery allowed in Rule 26(a), SCRPC; (2) respondents had no legitimate objection for not allowing petitioners to depose him; (3) Mr. Hodge’s testimony was important to shed light on questions regarding the scope of his agency given that Ms. Hodge is deceased; (4) agency is a fact-intensive inquiry; and (5) Mr. Hodge’s testimony was not the sole evidence offered to prove an agency relationship. The court of appeals’ error in affirming the denial of access to Mr. Hodge via deposition controlled its analysis and ultimate conclusion that the petitioners failed to establish the scope of his agency in this case.

Although the court of appeals correctly noted the appropriate scope of discovery outlined in Rule 26, SCRPC, the court ignored the fact that Mr. Hodge’s deposition fell comfortably within that scope. Rule 26 plainly states that “[p]arties may obtain discovery by . . . depositions upon oral examination.” Rule 26, SCRPC. The rule instructs circuit courts to only limit the “frequency or intent of use of discovery” in one of three circumstances, none of which are present in this case. See Rule 26(a)(i)–(iii), SCRPC. Petitioners merely sought to take the deposition of one of the parties who brought this lawsuit and agreed to limit the scope of the deposition to issues relating

to the motion to compel arbitration. Aside from written discovery, a deposition is arguably the most basic discovery tool used in the course of litigation.

As the court of appeals noted, respondents' only objection to Mr. Hodge's deposition was that "the law in South Carolina does not allow a relative to waive a party's right to a jury trial." Not only is that an incorrect statement of the law, but it is also not a legitimate discovery objection under Rule 26. A review of the rule reveals respondents had no basis for withholding this evidence. Mr. Hodge's deposition was not "unreasonably cumulative or duplicative." Cf. Rule 26(a)(i), SCRPC. It was not "obtainable from some other source that is more convenient, less burdensome, or less expensive" because Ms. Hodge is deceased. Id. Petitioners certainly did not have "ample opportunity by discovery in the action to obtain the information sought" because these motions were argued during the pleadings stage, and respondents refused to make Mr. Hodge available for a deposition. Cf. Rule 26(a)(ii), SCRPC. Finally, it would be disingenuous for respondents to argue that a party's deposition would be "unreasonably burdensome or expensive." Cf. Rule 26(a)(iii), SCRPC.

More importantly, the court of appeals failed to recognize the utility of Mr. Hodge's testimony in ascertaining the scope of his agency in this case. Agency requires a fact-intensive inquiry. See R&G Constr., Inc. v. Lowcountry Reg'l Transp. Auth., 343 S.C. 424, 434, 540 S.E.2d 113, 118 (Ct. App. 2000) ("Generally, agency is a question of fact."). "[A]gency may be implied or inferred and may be circumstantially proved by the conduct of the purported agent exhibiting a pretense of authority with the knowledge of the alleged principal." Fernander v. Thigpen, 278 S.C. 140, 143, 293 S.E.2d 424, 426 (1982). "Questions of agency ordinarily should not be resolved by summary judgment whe[n] . . . any facts giv[e] rise to an inference of an agency relationship." Reid v. Kelly, 274 S.C. 171, 174, 262 S.E.2d 24, 26 (1980).

This Court has long recognized “that the declarations of an agent alone as to his agency are insufficient to prove agency, but if . . . other corroborating facts [exist], agency then becomes a question for the jury.” City of Greenville v. Wash. Am. League Baseball Club, 205 S.C. 495, 504, 32 S.E.2d 777, 780 (1945) (emphasis added). To be sure, the agent’s “statements are admissible and competent as circumstances in connection with other competent evidence to prove the legal relationship of the principal and agent.” Id. (emphasis added). “The relationship of agency need not depend upon express appointment and acceptance, but may be, and frequently is, implied from the words and conduct of the parties and the circumstances of the particular case.” Id. at 505, 32 S.E.2d at 781 (emphasis added).

The existence of agency is a fact, and like other facts, may be proved by any evidence, traceable to the alleged principal, and having a legal tendency[] to establish it. The agency may be shown by conduct, by the relations and situation of the parties, by acts and declarations, by matters of omission as well as of commission, and, generally, by any fact or circumstance with which the alleged principal can be connected and having a legitimate tendency to establish that the person in question was his agent[] for the performance of the act in controversy.

Id. (quoting 1 MECHEM ON AGENCY § 261, at 185). As the court of appeals recognized in its opinion, “[a]n agreement may result in the creation of an agency relationship although the parties did not call it an agency and did not intend the consequences of the relationship to follow. Agency may be proved by circumstantial evidence showing a course of dealing between the two parties.” Peoples Fed. Sav. & Loan Ass’n v. Myrtle Beach Golf & Yacht Club, 310 S.C. 132, 145–46, 425 S.E.2d 764, 773 (Ct. App. 1992).

Here, the court of appeals erred in its agency analysis because petitioners were not seeking to use the statements of Mr. Hodge, standing alone, to prove agency in this case.<sup>1</sup> Cf. Wash. Am.

---

<sup>1</sup> Because petitioners were not seeking to use Mr. Hodge’s testimony alone to prove the scope of his agency, the present case is distinguishable from Dickerson v. Longoria, 995 A.2d 721 (Md. 2010), and Klippel v.

League Baseball Club, 205 S.C. at 504, 32 S.E.2d at 780 (stating “that the declarations of an agent alone as to his agency are insufficient to prove agency”). Nor were petitioners relying upon the fact of marriage, in and of itself, to prove an agency relationship. Cf. Stiltner v. USAA Cas. Ins. Co., 395 S.C. 183, 189, 717 S.E.2d 74, 77 (Ct. App. 2011) (asserting that “no presumption” of agency “arises from the mere fact of the marital relationship” (quoting Bankers Tr. of S.C. v. Bruce, 283 S.C. 408, 423, 323 S.E.2d 523, 532 (Ct. App. 1984))). Because Ms. Hodge is deceased, however, Mr. Hodge’s testimony—coupled with his longstanding marriage to her and the course of conduct in which he engaged on her behalf leading up to Ms. Hodge’s admission to petitioners’ facility—was relevant and admissible to demonstrate, via circumstantial evidence, the scope of his agency. See Wash. Am. League Baseball Club, 205 S.C. at 504, 32 S.E.2d at 780 (asserting that an agent’s “statements are admissible and competent as circumstances in connection with other competent evidence to prove the legal relationship of the principal and agent,” and agency “becomes a question for the jury” when “other corroborating facts” exist).

Petitioners, of course, are not trying to send this case to a jury. At issue here is a motion to compel arbitration, and our courts have not passed upon how the burden of proof for agency in this context is affected by the reality that arbitrability questions typically arise during the pleadings stage when very little discovery has been exchanged. See Rhodes v. Benson Chrysler-Plymouth, Inc., 374 S.C. 122, 126, 647 S.E.2d 249, 251 (Ct. App. 2007) (stating that “a party may waive its right to compel arbitration if a substantial length of time transpires between the commencement of the action and the commencement of the motion to compel arbitration”). For this reason alone, the Court should grant certiorari to clarify the interplay of the standards of proof, and who carries the burden of proof, for the benefit of the bench and bar. As it stands, all a plaintiff must do to

---

Mid-Carolina Oil, Inc., 303 S.C. 127, 399 S.E.2d 163 (Ct. App. 1990), and the court of appeals erred in relying upon these authorities.

defeat a motion to compel arbitration is assert agency as a defense and prevent the defendant from deposing the agent. This is wrong.

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