THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Supreme Court

RECEIVED

JUN 29 2018

APPEAL FROM BAMBERG COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Clifton Newman, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2015-001183

Opinion No. 5541 (S.C. Ct. App. Filed Mar. 7, 2018)

Camille Hodge, Jr., as Personal Representative of the Estate of  
Mable Hodge, Deceased.....Respondent,

v.

UniHealth Post-Acute Care of Bamberg, LLC f/k/a Bamberg County  
Nursing Center; United Health Services of South Carolina, Inc.;  
United Health Services, Inc.; UHS-Pruitt Holdings, Inc. a/k/a  
UHS-Pruitt Corp.; R. Dale Padgett, MD, PA; and Dr. Herbert A. Moskow,

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

### ARGUMENT

This is at least the fifth time in just the past four years that this same appellant (Pruitt) has come before this Court asking it to correct a Pruitt error and to enforce an arbitration agreement against one of its patients. *See Thompson v. Pruitt Corporation*, 416 S.C. 43, 784 S.E.2d 679 (Ct. App. 1016), *cert. denied* (S.C. Dec. 2, 2016) (Shearouse Adv. Sh. No. 46 at 7); *Scott v. Heritage Healthcare of Estill, LLC*, Opinion No. 2014–UP–317, 2014 WL 3845113 (Ct. App. Aug. 6, 2014), *cert. denied* (S.C. Feb. 20, 2015) (Shearouse Adv. Sh. No. 8, at 14); *Dean v. Heritage*

*Healthcare of Ridgeway, LLC*, 408 S.C. 371, 759 S.E.2d 727 (2014); *Johnson v. Heritage Healthcare of Estill, LLC*, 416 S.C. 508 788 S.E.2d 216 (2016).

In *Johnson*, this Court held that Pruitt had waived its right to demand arbitration by participating in discovery and other proceedings before the Circuit Court. On each of the other four occasions, Pruitt has asked this Court to enforce an arbitration agreement against a patient who never signed the agreement. In *Dean*, the parties did not address the issue and this Court *sua sponte* noted that “[w]e are concerned that, according to the Record, the patient did not sign either the residency agreement or the [arbitration] Agreement on her own behalf, despite being competent at the time, nor did Respondent possess a health care power of attorney to sign either contract on the patient’s behalf.” *Dean, supra*, 408 S.C. at 388n. 13. On the other two occasions (*Scott* and *Thompson*), the Court of Appeals refused Pruitt’s request to enforce its arbitration agreement against a patient who had not signed the agreement. On each of those occasions, Pruitt then petitioned this Court for a writ of certiorari and, on each occasion, this Court denied certiorari. Respondents respectfully request that this Court once again deny certiorari.

**I. The Court of Appeals Applied the Precise Standard of Review that This Court Has Repeatedly Articulated as Appropriate.**

In *Bradley v. Brentwood Homes, Inc.*, 389 S.C. 447, 453, 730 S.E.2d 312, 315 (2012), this Court articulated the standard of review for questions of arbitrability as follows:

“Arbitrability determinations are subject to *de novo* review. ‘Nevertheless, a circuit court’s factual findings will not be reversed on appeal if any evidence reasonably supports the findings.’”

*Id.* (quoting *Simpson v. MSA of Myrtle Beach, Inc.*, 373 S.C. 14, 22, 644 S.E.2d 663, 667 (2007)). Likewise, this Court in *Partain v. Upstate Automotive Group*, 386 S.C. 488, 491, 689 S.E.2d 602, 603 (2010) held as follows:

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

The question of arbitrability of a claim is an issue for judicial determination unless the parties provide otherwise. *See Zabinski v. Bright Acres Associates*, 346 S.C. 580, 596, 553 S.E.2d 110, 118 (2001). The determination whether a claim is subject to arbitration is subject to de novo review. *See Gissel v. Hart*, 382 S.C. 235, 240, 676 S.E.2d 320, 323 (2009). Nevertheless, a circuit court's factual findings will not be reversed on appeal if any evidence reasonably supports the findings. *See Aiken v. World Fin. Corp. of South Carolina*, 373 S.C. 144, 148, 644 S.E.2d 705, 707 (2007).

In the case at hand, the Court of Appeals restated the Supreme Court's previously articulated standard of review almost verbatim:

Unless the parties otherwise provide, the question of the arbitrability of a claim is an issue for judicial determination. *Zabinski v. Bright Acres Assocs.*, 346 S.C. 580, 596, 553 S.E.2d 110, 118 (2001). Determinations of arbitrability are subject to *de novo* review, but if any evidence reasonably supports the circuit court's factual findings, this court will not reverse those findings. *Aiken v. World Finance Corp. of S.C.*, 373 S.C. 144, 148, 644 S.E.2d 705, 707 (2007).

*Hodge*, Op. No. 5541, App'x p. 526.

As the cases above make clear, Pruitt's claim that "[t]he court of appeals failed to identify and apply the proper standard of review" is demonstrably untrue. Rather, their argument, at its core, is "the court of appeals failed to cite every case we wanted them to cite." Appellate courts, however, are not required to cite every possible case. The Court of Appeals recited and applied the appropriate standard of review.

Even the principal case relied on by Pruitt cites the same standard of review that it now argues is inappropriate. In *Landers v. Fed. Deposit Ins. Co.*, 402 S.C. 100, 108, 739 S.E.2d 209, 213 (2013) (*quoting Partain v. Upstate Automotive Group*, 386 S.C. 488, 491, 689 S.E.2d 602, 603 (2010)), this Court again says "'[t]he determination of whether a claim is subject to arbitration is subject to *de novo* review.'" (emphasis added). The Court then cites the familiar law that "any

doubts concerning the scope of arbitrable issues should be resolved in favor of arbitration.” *Id.* at 109 (citations omitted). Of course, in the instant case, the Circuit Court and the Court of Appeals were not determining “the scope” of what issues were subject to arbitration, they were determining “whether” arbitration would be compelled. The Court of Appeals, following this Court’s precedents, applied the appropriate standard of review for that decision.

**II. The Court of Appeals Correctly Held that the Trial Court Did Not Abuse its Discretion in Finding that a Deposition Would Not Alter its Decision Regarding Agency.**

Pruitt next argues that “the court of appeals erred in affirming as to the agency issue because the circuit court abused its discretion by refusing to allow the petitioners to present evidence on this fact-intensive question and its ruling was based upon an error of law.” (Petition p. 6). In fact, the circuit court did no such thing.

Pruitt presented substantial “evidence” to the circuit court, including numerous documents indicating that Mr. Hodge had previously signed medical forms for his wife. Pruitt also presented the circuit court with the affidavit of its own administrator from the Bamberg facility that housed Ms. Hodge. After considering all of that evidence, the circuit court then held that “[b]ecause the facts material to the Court’s decision are not contested and because the parties submitted, without objection, all documents that they wished the Court to consider, the Court concludes that the deposition of Mr. Hodge would not provide any additional material facts that would be helpful to the Court in reaching its decision.” (App’x p. 525, n. 1).

Judge Newman found, and the Court of Appeals agreed, that the deposition of 86-year-old Camille Hodge, Sr. would not aid the court because it had considered Pruitt’s own affidavit and “the facts material to the court’s decision are not contested.” (App’x p. 3, n. 1). That ruling was demonstrably correct, for several independent reasons.

First, this Court has repeatedly held that a “trial court's rulings in matters related to discovery generally will not be disturbed on appeal in the absence of a clear abuse of discretion.” *Stokes-Craven Holding Corp. v. Robinson*, 416 S.C. 517, 536, 787 S.E.2d 485, 495 (2016) *citing* *Dunn v. Dunn*, 298 S.C. 499, 381 S.E.2d 734 (1989). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's order is controlled by an error of law or when there is no evidentiary support for the trial court's factual conclusions.” *Id. citing Sundown Operating Co. v. Intedge Indus., Inc.*, 383 S.C. 601, 681 S.E.2d 885 (2009).

As noted by the Court of Appeals, it has long been the law in South Carolina that “it is the duty of one dealing with an agent to use due care to ascertain the scope of the agent’s authority.” (App’x p. 538) *citing* *McCall v. Finley*, 294 S.C. 1, 6, 362 S.E.2d 26, 29 (Ct. App. 1987) *quoting* *Justus v. Universal Credit Co.*, 189 S.C. 487, 495, 1 S.E.2d 508, 511 (1939). Despite this clear law, Pruitt offered neither argument nor evidence that it had made any efforts to ascertain the scope of Mr. Hodge’s authority. The affidavit of Ms. Rutland, Pruitt’s administrator, is completely silent on any steps that Pruitt took to ascertain the scope of Mr. Hodge’s authority. Worse, the Arbitration Agreement attached to the administrator’s affidavit contains a space directly under Mr. Hodge’s name with these instructions: “Print: Name of Patient/ Resident Representative and indicate capacity of representative.” (emphasis added) (App’x p. 183). On that line, Pruitt typed only the words: “Camille Hodge.” In the face of South Carolina law and its own instructions to ascertain Mr. Hodge’s authority, Pruitt elected to do nothing and now asks this Court to fix their error.

Moreover, in its arguments to the Court of Appeals, even Pruitt acknowledged that the doctrine of apparent authority turns not on any actions of Mr. Hodge but rather on the actions of the principal, Mrs. Hodge, and the beliefs of the third party, Pruitt. (App’x, p. 463). (“[T]he

concept of apparent authority depends upon manifestations by the principal to a third party and the reasonable belief by the third party that the agent is authorized to bind the principal.”) That statement of the law – by Pruitt – was correct. Both this Court and our Court of Appeals have repeatedly held that

[t]he concept of apparent authority depends upon manifestations by the principal to a third party and the reasonable belief by the third party that the agent is authorized to bind the principal. *Beasley v. Kerr-McGee Chem. Corp.*, 273 S.C. 523, 257 S.E.2d 726 (1979); *Visual Graphics Leasing Corp. v. Lucia*, 311 S.C. 484, 429 S.E.2d 839 (Ct. App. 1993). *See also Moore v. North American Van Lines*, 310 S.C. 236, 423 S.E.2d 116 (1992) (basis of apparent authority is representations made by principal to third party and reliance by third party on those representations).

*R & G Const., Inc. v. Lowcountry Regional Transp. Authority*, 343 S.C. 424, 432, 540 S.E.2d 113, 118 (Ct. App. 2000) (emphasis added). This Court has plainly held that “[i]n order for a third party to recover against the principal based upon this theory [apparent authority], it must be shown that he [the third party] reasonably relied upon the indicia of authority originated by the principal and such reliance must have affected a change of position by the third party.” *Beasley v. Kerr-McGee Chemical Corp., Inc.*, 273 S.C. 523, 528, 257 S.E.2d 726, 728 (1979). *See also Cowburn v. Leventis*, 366 S.C. 20, 39-40, 619 S.E.2d 437, 448 (Ct. App. 2005) (“agency may not be established solely by the declarations and conduct of an alleged agent.”) (quoting *Frasier v. Palmetto Homes of Florence, Inc.*, 323 S.C. 240, 245, 473 S.E.2d 865, 868 (Ct. App. 1996)). Rather, “[t]he proper focus in determining a claim of apparent authority is not on the relationship between the principal and the agent, but on that between the principal and third party.” *R & G Construction*, 343 S.C. at 432-33, 540 S.E.2d at 118 (citing *Vereen v. Liberty Life Ins. Co.*, 306 S.C. 423, 412 S.E.2d 425 (Ct. App. 1991)).

The circuit court found that Appellant had presented no evidence that Mrs. Hodge had ever made any representations to Pruitt or had ever “held out” her husband to Pruitt as having authority to bind her to agreements such as the purported arbitration agreement. (App’x. p. 9). Pruitt argued to the Court of Appeals and now argues to this Court that because it was not allowed to depose Mr. Hodge, it could not produce any evidence of Mrs. Hodge having bestowed apparent authority on Mr. Hodge. This argument ignores both the facts of this case and the law.

Contrary to its current assertion, Pruitt had every opportunity to present the circuit court with any evidence that Mrs. Hodge had taken any actions to manifest to Pruitt that Mr. Hodge had authority to execute documents on her behalf, and had every opportunity to present evidence that Pruitt had relied on those manifestations. If any Pruitt employee could have asserted that Mrs. Hodge made such representations to them they certainly would have done so. Likewise, if any Pruitt employee could have asserted that Pruitt relied on representations made by Mrs. Hodge, they certainly would have done so.

In fact, Pruitt presented the circuit court with an affidavit from Deborah Rutland, its Administrator, who attested simply to the uncontested fact that Mr. Hodge “signed various documents.” (App’x p. 164, ¶ 5). Tellingly, however, Ms. Rutland never even suggests that Mrs. Hodge took any action – in any way – to represent to Pruitt that her husband had been authorized to execute documents on her behalf. That is logical, of course, since the uncontested fact found by the circuit court and affirmed by the Court of Appeals is that Mrs. Hodge was not even present when the arbitration agreement was presented to her husband: “Mable was not present at the time her husband signed these documents on the day of her admission as she was still in the hospital.” (App’x p. 522). Nor did Ms. Rutland ever attest that Pruitt had relied, in any way, on any representation made by Mrs. Hodge that a family member had been authorized to execute

documents on her behalf. If Pruitt had relied – in any way -- on a representation made by Mrs. Hodge, they had every opportunity to present that fact to the circuit court and undoubtedly would have done so.

Moreover, since Mrs. Hodge is no longer alive, Pruitt was in the unique position to know whether Mrs. Hodge (the principal) made any representations to Pruitt (the third party) and was in the unique position to know whether Pruitt relied in any way on representations made by Mrs. Hodge that someone else was authorized to bind her to contracts. Pruitt presented no evidence either that Mrs. Hodge had made representations to them or that they had relied on any representations. Given that complete lack of evidence and given the uncontested facts of this case – that Ms. Hodge was competent, that Mr. Hodge, Sr. did not have power of attorney, and that Pruitt elected to have Ms. Hodge sign certain documents on her admission but not the arbitration agreement -- the circuit court was certainly well within its discretion to determine that a deposition – not of the principal and not of the third party – was not necessary or helpful to its decision. This conclusion fits perfectly within the law of apparent agency, as summarized above. There was no error of law in the circuit court’s decision, and the Court of Appeals properly affirmed it.

**III. The Court of Appeals Properly Affirmed the Circuit Court’s Ruling that Pruitt Could Not Enforce its Arbitration Agreement Against Ms. Hodge.**

Pruitt’s final argument to this Court is that “the court of appeals erred in treating nursing home arbitration agreements differently from any other contract in direct contravention of U.S. Supreme Court precedent.” (Petition P. 13). This argument is premised on Pruitt’s representation to this Court that “the court of appeals found the other admissions documents signed by Camille Hodge, Sr., except for the Arbitration Agreement, were enforceable.” (Petition p. 15). The problem with this argument is that it never happened. The Court of Appeals never ruled that any agreements in this case are enforceable. The only agreement whose enforceability the Court of

Appeals considered was the arbitration agreement that Ms. Hodge never signed. The Court of Appeals agreed with the circuit court that that agreement could not be enforced by Pruitt. The Court of Appeals was not asked to rule, and did not rule, on the enforceability of the admission agreement or any other contract and thus did not treat the arbitration agreement differently from any other contract.

In support of its argument, Appellants point this Court to a single sentence in the Court of Appeals' Order – “the authority conveyed by a principal to an agent to handle finances or make health care decisions does not encompass executing an agreement to resolve legal claims by arbitration, thereby waiving the principal's right of access to the courts and to a jury trial.” (Petition p. 15). In addition to being accurate, that sentence does not originate with this case but rather is a verbatim quotation from a different case in which this Court has already denied certiorari. *Thompson*, 416 S.C. at 55, 784 S.E.2d at 686. Moreover, that sentence is entirely consistent with this Court's holding in *Coleman v. Mariner's Health Care, Inc.* 407 S.C. 346, 755 S.E.2d 450 (2014). There, the Court ruled that the Adult Health Care Consent Act (S.C. Code § 44-66-10 *et seq.*) gave a patient's sister “two types of authority” -- medical and financial – and authorized her to execute an admission agreement, but not an arbitration agreement on behalf of her sister:

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